

FACTORS INFLUENCING ADHERENCE TO SELF-CARE PRACTICES AMONG DIABETES PATIENTS IN A SELECTED TERTIARY HOSPITAL, OSUN STATE

Abstract

Aims: Diabetes is a chronic non-communicable disease with many irreversible complications that can be prevented by strict adherence to self-care practice. Self-care practice is crucial and highly imperative in all-round management of diabetes as it is often regarded as the cornerstone of diabetes care. Therefore, this study aims to investigate the factors influencing adherence to self-care practices among diabetes patients attending endocrinology clinic in a tertiary hospital, Osun State, Nigeria.

Study Design: This study adopted a descriptive research design carried out among diabetes patients attending outpatient endocrinology clinic of Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospital, Ile-Ife, Osun State between July and September 2021.

Methodology: Sample size was calculated using Cochran formula and total number of sample used were two hundred and eight (208) diabetes patients attending outpatient endocrinology unit, Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospital, Ile-Ife, Osun State. Samples were selected using convenient sampling technique for a period of six (6) weeks. A self-developed structured and two (2) adapted questionnaire; Patient's Diabetic Knowledge Questionnaire by Schmitt et al (2013) and Level of adherence to self-care practice scale by Morisky et al. (1986) with reliability

Comment [Y1]: This is not present in the method section of this manuscript, It has to be present with section of sample size and sampling technique

Comment [Y2]: Not present in the method part. Should be present with justification under section of sample size and sampling technique

index of 0.863 were used to collect data from the respondents. Data collected were analyzed using descriptive statistics of frequency, percentage, mean and standard deviation while inferential statistics of Pearson product moment correlation and regression were used to test stated hypotheses at 0.05 level of significance.

Results: The result from the study revealed good knowledge of diabetes mellitus and diabetes self-care practices among the respondents. The results also revealed high level of adherence to diabetes medication, diet, physical activity, blood glucose testing, follow-up and foot care. Factors influencing the level of adherence with diabetes self-care practices include cost of treatment, longer year of being diagnosed, good relationship between healthcare team, level of education, good family and social support. There is also a significant relationship between knowledge of diabetes mellitus and adherence with physical activity ($r = 0.210$; $P = 0.02$) and blood glucose testing ($r = 0.203$; $P = 0.003$). However, there is no significant relationship between knowledge of self-care practices and adherence to self-care practices; socio-demographic characteristics of age ($r = -0.040$; $P = 0.568$), education ($r = 0.112$; $P = 0.107$) and adherence to self-care practices.

Conclusion: The study concluded that there is high level of knowledge about diabetes and diabetes self-care practices as well as adherence to diabetes self-care practices, therefore, health care providers should continue to monitor self-care practices among diabetes patients so as to achieve positive health outcome and reduce morbidity and mortality associated with diabetes mellitus.

Keywords: Factors, Diabetes, Patients, Adherence, Self-care practices

1. INTRODUCTION

Diabetes Mellitus (DM) is a rising global health challenge with serious public health implications and the condition is estimated to be the seventh and the eight eighth-leading cause of death world-wide and disability respectively [1]. According to [2], it was estimated that up to 463 million people between ages 20-79 years are living with diabetes mellitus worldwide, of which approximately 79% are living in low- and middle-income countries including Nigeria [2]. DM is associated with high mortality, morbidity, and disability, high economic costs, and loss of quality of life, this often creates a significant burden on the individual and family [1]. In addition to the health burden, diabetes-related expenditures incur heavy costs on individuals, health care systems and governments [3][4][5][6]. The prevalence of diabetes is linked to factors including unhealthy lifestyle, sedentary lifestyle, lack of physical exercise, unhealthy eating habits, and unhealthy weight gain [7][8][9]. Furthermore, diabetes patients are prone to acute illnesses including cardiovascular diseases, stroke, nerve damage, foot ulcers, kidney diseases and failure, blindness and pre-mature death, as a result of poor glucose control [10][11].

Comment [Y3]: I am not quite sure about the requirement of this journal with regard to referencing. For me, this reference can be written as [3-6].

Comment [Y4]: Similar with above one

Comment [Y5]:

The high morbidity and mortality recorded with diabetic patients are associated with inconsistent and insufficient self-care practices as diabetes management involves a series of behaviours that encompasses dietary changes, lifestyle modifications, foot care and pharmacological therapy [12][13][14][15][16]. The self-care routines identified by the American Association of Diabetes Educators in 2007 include healthy eating, regular exercises, self-monitoring of blood glucose, regular use of medications, good problem-solving skills, healthy coping, and risk reduction strategies [17]. Self-care of diabetes is crucial and highly imperative in the all-round management of diabetes and is often regarded as the cornerstone of diabetes care. However, poor adherence to self-care practices persists as a major health challenge globally [12][18]. In other words, self-care is essential in keeping diabetes under control which includes activities such as

Comment [Y6]:

imbibing a healthy eating habit, exercising regularly, adequate foot-care, self-monitoring of blood glucose, and strict adherence to medication [13] [19].

Diabetes self-care practices need to be persistent to achieve a reduction in diabetes complications and improve quality of life. The annual increase in severity of diabetes has been linked to lack of practice of proper self-care, while good self-care practices also reduce the risk of co-morbidities [17][20][21]. Although living with diabetes affects all aspects of a patient's life, it is possible for the patient to have a normal life if they perform self-care activities designed to control their symptoms and avoid long-term complications [22][23][24]. The goal of self-care is to achieve a good glycemic control and to reduce or eliminate the development of early or late complications of diabetes [25]. Therefore, failure of diabetes patients to adhere to self-care practices over time will increase the incidence of complications from uncontrolled blood sugar [26].

Self-care practice among diabetes patients is often associated with various individual and environmental related factors that either promote or impede good self-care practice [27]. [27] found that diabetes patients' adherence to self-care practices is heightened as they increase in age. Alsomali [28] reported that culture, religion, gender, stigma, social support and the health-care environment have influence on diabetes patients' adherence pattern to self-care activities. Moreso, self-care practices are largely influenced by educational level, psychological status, family or spousal support, attitude to treatment, and challenges of communication with physicians which in turn affects their glycemic control [29]. These factors invariably influence the level of adherence of diabetes patient to self-care practices, therefore, this study aims to investigate the factors influencing adherence to self-care practices among diabetes patients attending endocrinology clinic in a tertiary hospital, Osun State, Nigeria

1.1 Objective of the Study

1. Assess the level of knowledge of diabetes among diabetes patients in the selected tertiary hospital.
2. Assess the level of knowledge of self-care practices among diabetic patients in the selected tertiary hospital.
3. Determine the level of adherence to self-care practices among diabetic patients in the selected tertiary hospital.
4. Determine the factors that influence adherence to self-care practices among diabetes patients attending the selected teaching hospital.

1.2 Hypotheses

1. H_0 : There is no significant relationship between knowledge of diabetes and adherence to self-care practices
2. H_0 : There is no significant relationship between knowledge of self-care practices and adherence to self-care practices
3. H_0 : There is no significant relationship between age and adherence to self-care practices
4. H_0 : There is no significant relationship between level of education and adherence to self-care practices

2. METHODOLOGY

2.1 Research Design

This study adopted a descriptive research design carried out among diabetes patients attending outpatient endocrinology clinic of Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Osun

Comment [Y7]: Generally in the method section in addition to what has been mentioned, the following are very crucial;

1. Study population
2. Study setting and period
3. Sample size determination and sampling technique

State between July and September 2021. The study was carried out at endocrinology unit of Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospitals Complex, a tertiary healthcare institution with facilities for training, research and quality service delivery in Osun State. The clinic operates from 8:00am to 4:00pm on week days

Comment [Y8]: This should be divided into two as;
1. Research setting and period and
2. Research design or give common heading as research design, setting and period.

2.2 Data Collection

Data were collected using self-developed structured questionnaire and two (2) adapted questionnaires (Patient's Diabetic Knowledge Questionnaire) by [30] and Level of adherence to self-care practice scale by [31]. Data was collected from two hundred and eight (208) respondents attending endocrinology clinic of Obafemi Awolowo University, Ile-Ife, Osun State.

Comment [Y9]: Content of the questionnaire should be clearly stated. Plus how the data was collected should be clear

2.3 Data Analysis

Data collected were analysed using EPI Info statistical package for social sciences version 21 and the result was presented using descriptive statistics of frequencies, percentages, mean and standard deviation while inferential statistics of Pearson Product Moment Correlation and regression were used to test stated hypotheses at 0.05 level of significance.

2.4 Ethical Consideration

Permission was obtained from the ethical committee of Babcock University, Ilishan-Remo with reference number NHREC/24/01/2020. Permission was subsequently obtained from the head of Endocrinology of Obafemi Awolowo University Teaching Hospital where the study was carried out. Informed consent was obtained from each respondent and they were given the right to make informed decision and the freedom to withdraw from the study without any penalty.

3. RESULT PRESENTATION

Table 1 revealed that majority (67.8%) of the respondents were female aged 70 years and above (32.2%), married (63.5%) and are of Yoruba ethnic group (58.7%). More than half (50.5%) of the respondents had tertiary education as their highest educational qualification, 31.7% of the respondents earned between ₦21,000-₦40,000 on monthly basis. More than three-fourth (82.2%) have been diagnosed of diabetes for about 1-10 years.

Table 2 revealed that almost half (48.1%) of the respondents had good knowledge of diabetes mellitus followed by 30.3% with moderate knowledge and 21.6% with poor knowledge.

Table 3 also revealed that majority (73.6%) of the respondents had good knowledge about self-care practices while 26.4% had poor knowledge.

Table 4 revealed that majority of the respondents had high level of adherence to medication (58.2%), diet (56.3%), blood glucose monitoring (44.2%), follow-up visit (49.5%) and foot care (44.2%) while 45.2% had moderate level of adherence to physical exercise.

Table 5 revealed that the factors influencing adherence to self-care practices were general cost of treating diabetes (RII = 0.86), longer the years of being diagnosed with diabetes, the more I understand that I must take care of myself (RII = 0.83), good relationship between the healthcare team (RII = 0.82), capability of taking care of myself (RII = 0.82), level of education and / or diabetes knowledge plays an important role in practising self-care (RII = 0.81), good family/ social support greatly influences me to better self-care management (RII = 0.81). Age has given me better experience in maintaining self-care (RII = 0.78), the complexity and time-consuming nature of some of the self-care practices often discourages me from practicing them (RII = 0.78), and religious belief plays a significant role in maintaining a good self-care practice (RII = 0.74)

Comment [Y10]: Better to have subtitles under the results section as;

1. Sociodemographics of the study participants,
2. Participants knowledge on diabetes mellitus,
3. Participants knowledge on diabetes self care,
4. Determinants of adherence to diabetes self care practice

Comment [Y11]: More than may not be appropriate for this figure. It is near to half

Table 6 revealed a significant relationship between knowledge of diabetes and adherence to self-care practices. There is a statistically significant correlation between knowledge of diabetes and physical activity ($r = .210^{**}$, $P < .05$), self blood glucose testing ($r = .203^{**}$, $P < .05$) and practice of foot care ($r = .146^*$, $P < .05$). On the other hand, the table revealed no correlation between knowledge of diabetes and practice of medication intake ($r = .050$, $P > .05$), knowledge of diabetes and diet intake ($r = .013$, $P > .05$), knowledge of diabetes and follow-up ($r = .120$, $P > .05$) and knowledge of diabetes and foot care ($r = .146$, $P > .05$).

Table 7 revealed no significant relationship between knowledge of self-care practices and adherence to self-care practices. There was no statistically significant relationship between knowledge of self-care practices and adherence to these practices. Knowledge of self-care practices and medication practice ($r = .046$, $P > .05$). Knowledge of self-care practices and diet ($r = .021$, $P > .05$), knowledge of self-care practices and physical activity ($r = .118$, $P > .05$), knowledge of self-care practices and blood glucose testing ($r = .111$, $P > .05$). Knowledge of self-care practices and follow up ($r = .019$, $P > .05$) and knowledge of self-care practices ($r = .134$, $P > .05$). This means that knowledge of self-care practices does not automatically imply good adherence practices. The null hypothesis is therefore accepted and the alternative hypothesis rejected.

Table 8 revealed no significant relationship between age ($r = -.040$, $P > .05$), education ($r = -.112$, $P > .05$), and adherence to self-care practices. The null hypothesis is therefore accepted and the hypotheses alternative rejected. It further implies that age and level of education does not automatically translate into self-care practices among diabetic patients attending the selected tertiary hospital.

Table 1: Socio-demographic Information

Comment [Y12]: Merge cells

Parameters	Classification	Frequency	Percentage
Gender	Male	67	32.2
	Female	141	67.8
	Total	208	100.0
Age	20-29	1	.5
	30-39	10	4.8
	40-49	29	13.9
	50-59	52	25.0
	60-69	49	23.6
	70 and above	67	32.2
	Total	208	100.0
Marital status	Single	13	6.3
	Married	132	63.5
	Divorce	24	11.5
	Widow/Widower	39	18.8
	Total	208	100.0
Ethnicity	Yoruba	122	58.7
	Hausa	23	11.1
	Igbo	34	16.3
	Others	29	13.9
	Total	208	100.0
Highest Educational qualification	Primary	43	20.7
	Secondary	49	23.6
	Tertiary	105	50.5
	No education	11	5.3
	Total	208	100.0
Average Monthly Income	5,000-20,000	45	21.7
	21,000-40,000	66	31.7
	41,000 – 60,000	27	13.0
	61,000 - 80,000	30	14.4
	81,000 - 100,000	15	7.2
	Above 100,000	25	12.0
	Total	208	100.0
Number of Diagnosis	1-10	171	82.2
	11-20	27	13.0
	21-30	10	4.8

	Total	208	100.0
--	--------------	------------	--------------

Table 2a: Level of knowledge of diabetes mellitus among diabetic patients the study participants

Survey items	Yes	No	Neutral	Mean \pm SD	RII	Ranking
There are two main types of diabetes: type 1 (insulin dependent) and type 2 (non-insulin dependent)	115(55.3)	19(9.1)	74(35.6)	1.26 \pm 0.62	0.63	1st
Diabetes often causes poor circulation	116(55.8)	21(10.1)	71(34.1)	1.24 \pm 0.62	0.62	2nd
Diabetes can cause loss of feeling in the hands, fingers and feet	145(69.7)	8(3.8)	55(26.4)	1.23 \pm 0.50	0.62	3rd
In untreated diabetes, the amount of sugar in the blood usually increases	147(70.7)	9(4.3)	52(25.0)	1.21 \pm 0.50	0.61	4th
A fasting blood sugar level of 210mg/dl is too high	133(63.9)	16(7.7)	59(28.4)	1.21 \pm 0.57	0.61	5th
Diabetes can damage my kidney	115(55.3)	25(12.0)	68(32.7)	1.21 \pm 0.64	0.61	6th
The usual cause of diabetes is lack of insulin in the body	153(73.6)	10(4.8)	45(21.6)	1.17 \pm 0.49	0.59	7th
Cuts and abrasions on diabetics heal more slowly	149(71.6)	15(7.2)	44(21.2)	1.14 \pm 0.52	0.57	8th
Eating too much sugar and other sweet foods is a cause of diabetes	153(73.6)	14(6.7)	41(19.7)	1.13 \pm 0.50	0.57	9th
A diabetic diet consists mostly of special foods	142(68.3)	22(10.6)	44(21.2)	1.11 \pm 0.55	0.56	10th
Diabetes can be cured	90(43.3)	49(23.6)	69(33.2)	1.10 \pm 0.74	0.55	11th
Regular exercise will increase the need for insulin or other diabetic medication	104(50.0)	42(20.2)	62(29.8)	1.10 \pm 0.70	0.55	12th
Shaking and sweating are signs of high blood sugar	129(62.0)	29(13.9)	50(24.0)	1.10 \pm 0.61	0.55	13 th
Tight elastic hose or socks is bad for a diabetic	109(52.4)	42(20.2)	57(27.4)	1.07 \pm 0.69	0.54	14th
Frequent urination and thirst are signs of low blood sugar	114(54.8)	41(19.7)	53(25.5)	1.06 \pm 0.67	0.53	15th

The best way to check my diabetes is by testing my urine	91(43.8)	57(27.4)	60(28.8)	1.01±0.75	0.51	16th
	Weighted Mean = 1.15				0.57	

Table 2b: Summary of Level of Diabetes Knowledge

Knowledge classification	Frequency	Percentage
Poor	45	21.6
Moderate	63	30.3
Good	100	48.1
Total	208	100.0

Comment [Y13]: What is the measurement for knowledge level? What score corresponds to poor knowledge, moderate knowledge and good knowledge?

These things should be defined in the method section

Table 3a: Level of knowledge of diabetes self-care practices

Self-care practices	Yes	No	Neutral	Mean ± SD	RII	Ranking
Regular physical activity is prerequisite for maintaining normal weight and optimal blood glucose level	150(72.1)	13(6.3)	45(21.6)	1.15±0.51	0.58	1st
It is important that I check my feet regularly	152(73.1)	12(5.8)	44(21.2)	1.15±0.50	0.58	1st
It is necessary to get low level exercise (such as walking on a daily basis)	132(63.5)	23(11.1)	53(25.5)	1.14±0.59	0.57	3rd
It is not safe to alter the doses of prescribed medications	153(73.6)	15(7.2)	40(19.2)	1.12±0.50	0.56	4th
Keeping a record/diary of my blood sugar levels, weight and blood pressure helps me to take quick action when necessary	151(72.6)	15(7.2)	42(20.2)	1.13±0.51	0.56	4th
The way I prepare my food is as important as the food I eat	139(66.8)	22(10.6)	47(22.6)	1.12±0.56	0.56	4th
Cheeking foot wears regularly is necessary to avoid harming the feet	151(72.6)	18(8.7)	39(18.8)	1.10±0.51	0.55	7th
Checking the blood sugar levels regularly helps keep tract of my condition	153(73.6)	17(8.2)	38(18.3)	1.10±0.51	0.55	7th
Having more portion of protein, vegetables and fruits than carbohydrates is more	154(74.0)	16(7.7)	38(18.3)	1.11±0.50	0.55	7th

beneficial for control of diabetes						
Medication is more important than diet and exercise in controlling diabetes	116(55.8)	39(18.8)	53(25.5)	1.07±0.66	0.53	10th
Weighted Mean Score = 1.12					0.56	

Table 3b: Summary of knowledge of self-care practices

Knowledge of Self-care practices		Frequency	Percentage
	Poor knowledge	55	26.4
	Good knowledge	153	73.6
	Total	208	100.0

Table 4a: Level of adherence to self-care practices

	Never	Sometimes	Always	Mean ± SD	RII	Ranking
Medication						
I take my diabetes drugs everyday	11(5.3)	42(20.2)	155(74.5)	2.69±0.57	0.90	1st
I take the prescribed medications the same time everyday	13(6.3)	66(31.7)	129(62.0)	2.56±0.61	0.85	2nd
I take the prescribed medications even when I am sick	17(8.2)	83(39.9)	108(51.9)	2.44±0.64	0.81	3rd
I do not alter the prescribed dose of my drugs due to illness or forgetfulness	29(13.9)	86(41.3)	93(44.7)	2.31±0.70	0.77	4th
Diet						
I include more vegetables and fruits in my diet	15(7.2)	56(26.9)	137(65.9)	2.59±0.62	0.86	1st
I strictly follow the dietary recommendation given by my diabetes specialist	17(8.2)	75(36.1)	116(55.8)	2.48±0.64	0.83	2nd
I buy food from vendors	18(8.7)	77(37.0)	113(54.3)	2.46±0.65	0.82	3rd
I eat at regular intervals	28(13.5)	77(37.0)	103(49.5)	2.36±0.71	0.79	4th
Physical Activity						
I exercise for up to 30 minutes three times in a week	56(26.9)	84(40.4)	68(32.7)	2.06±0.77	0.69	1st
I exercise regularly as recommended	53(25.5)	103(49.5)	52(25.0)	2.0±0.71	0.67	2nd
Blood Glucose Testing						
I check my blood sugar levels with care and attention	39(18.8)	71(34.1)	98(47.1)	2.28±0.76	0.76	1st

I check my blood sugar level when I attend the clinic	38(18.3)	74(35.6)	96(46.2)	2.28±0.75	0.76	1st
I keep a record of my blood sugar level when I attend the clinic	39(18.8)	81(38.9)	88(42.3)	2.24±0.74	0.75	3rd
I frequently compare the values of my blood sugar record	45(21.6)	76(36.5)	87(41.8)	2.20±0.77	0.73	4th
Follow-Up						
I keep my clinic appointment regularly	23(11.1)	59(28.4)	126(60.6)	2.50±0.69	0.83	1st
I maintain a diabetic record which consist of blood sugar level, blood pressure and weight	49(23.6)	48(23.1)	111(53.4)	2.30±0.83	0.77	2nd
I undergo general health check-up regularly	44(21.2)	61(29.3)	103(49.5)	2.28±0.79	0.76	3rd
I consult my diabetes specialist even when there is no problem	49(23.6)	85(40.9)	74(35.6)	2.12±0.76	0.71	4th
Foot Care						
I wear correct fitting shoes.	25(12.0)	90(43.3)	93(44.7)	2.33±0.68	0.78	1st
I inspect my foot wears regularly for foreign object	31(14.9)	75(36.1)	102(49.0)	2.34±0.72	0.78	1st
I promptly take care of skin abrasions on my feet	31(14.9)	83(39.9)	94(45.2)	2.30±0.72	0.77	3rd
I observe my feet daily for cuts or injury	36(17.3)	84(40.4)	88(42.3)	2.25±0.73	0.75	4th
I dry the spaces between my toes after washing my feet	36(17.3)	90(43.3)	82(39.4)	2.22±0.72	0.74	5th

Table 4b: Summary of Level of adherence to self-care practices

	Level of Adherence			Total
	High	Moderate	Low	
Medication	121 (58.2%)	69 (33.2%)	18 (8.7%)	208 (100)
Diet	117 (56.3%)	71 (34.1%)	20 (9.6%)	208 (100)
Physical activity	60 (28.9%)	94 (45.2%)	54 (26.0%)	208 (100)
Blood glucose monitoring	92(44.2%)	76 (36.5%)	40 (19.2%)	208 (100)
Follow-up	103 (49.5%)	63 (30.3%)	42 (20.2%)	208 (100)
Foot care	92 (44.2%)	84(40.4%)	32 (15.4%)	208 (100)

Table 5: Factors influencing adherence to self-care practices

	Strongly Agreed	Agreed	Disagreed	Strongly Disagreed	Mean \pm SD	RII	Ranking
The general cost of treating diabetes is a challenge for me	111(53.4)	85(40.9)	7(3.4)	5(2.4)	3.45 \pm 0.68	0.86	1st
The longer the years I have been diagnosed of diabetes, the more I understand that I must take care of myself	99(47.6)	87(41.8)	11(5.3)	11(5.3)	3.32 \pm 0.80	0.83	2nd
Good relationship between I and the healthcare team has helped me to maintain good self-care practices.	92(44.2)	92(44.2)	11(5.3)	13(6.3)	3.26 \pm 0.82	0.82	3rd
I believe that I am capable of taking care of myself	100(48.1)	82(39.4)	14(6.7)	12(5.8)	3.30 \pm 0.83	0.82	3rd
My level of education and or diabetes knowledge plays an important role in practising self-care	94(45.2)	84(40.4)	17(8.2)	13(6.3)	3.25 \pm 0.85	0.81	5th
Having good family/ social support greatly influences me to better self-care.	91(43.8)	91(43.8)	14(6.7)	12(5.8)	3.25 \pm 0.82	0.81	5th
Age has given me better experience in maintaining self-care.	80(38.5)	92(44.2)	21(10.1)	15(7.2)	3.14 \pm 0.87	0.78	7th
The complexity and time-consuming nature of some of the self-care practices often discourages me from practicing them	74(35.6)	98(47.1)	21(10.1)	15(7.2)	3.11 \pm 0.86	0.78	7th
My religious belief plays a significant role in maintaining a good self-care practice	82(39.4)	63(30.3)	34(16.3)	29(13.9)	2.95 \pm 1.06	0.74	9th

Table 6: Relationship between knowledge of diabetes and adherence to self-care practices

Adherence practices	N	r	P value	Remark
---------------------	---	---	---------	--------

Medication intake	208	.050	.472	Not Significant
Diet	208	.013	.901	Not Significant
Physical Activity	208	.210**	.002	Significant
Blood Glucose Testing	208	.203**	.003	Significant
Follow-Up	208	.120	.085	Not Significant
Foot Care	208	.146*	.035	Not Significant

** . Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* . Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 7: Relationship between knowledge of self-care practices and adherence to self-care practices among diabetic patients attending the selected tertiary hospital.

Adherence practices	N	r	P value	Remark
Practice medication intake	208	-.046	.510	Not Significant
Diet	208	.021	.844	Not Significant
Physical Activity	208	-.118	.091	Not Significant
Blood Glucose Testing	208	-.111	.112	Not Significant
Follow-Up	208	-.019	.786	Not Significant
Foot Care	208	-.134	.054	Not Significant

** . Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* . Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

Table 8: Relationship between age and education and adherence to self-care practices among diabetic patients attending the endocrinology clinic of the selected tertiary hospital.

Adherence practices	N	r	P value	Remark
Age	208	-.040	.568	Not Significant
Education	208	.112	.107	Not Significant

** . Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed).

* . Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

4. DISCUSSION OF FINDINGS

The findings from the study revealed that majority of the respondent had good knowledge about diabetes mellitus and self-care practices. This finding corroborates the result of [32] that majority

of their respondents had either moderate or above moderate knowledge of diabetes mellitus. In line with the study findings, [33] Also reported good knowledge of diabetes mellitus among their participants. In contrast to the findings from the study, [34] reported average knowledge on diabetes mellitus as well as [35] who reported low level of knowledge among diabetes patients. Moderate knowledge of diabetes mellitus was reported by [36]. However, the knowledge of diabetes sometimes did not commensurate with the proficiency of self-care among the participant, this study thus concluded that knowledge of diabetes does not reflect in the expected expert level of proficiency of self-care practice. In addition, [37] reported poor knowledge in all the three knowledge categories, total knowledge of diabetes, general knowledge of diabetes and knowledge of insulin use with major knowledge gaps identified in insulin use, glycemic control and diet. [38] Also reported that lack of awareness of diabetes pathophysiology and self-care practices among diabetes patient is a major challenge in health care seething therefore better knowledge can improve glycemic control and better self-care practices. [39] stated an increased knowledge of diabetes mellitus in respect to concepts of the disease, pathophysiology and treatments with significant increased knowledge on physical activity, foot care and nutrition in controlling blood sugar.

The findings revealed high level of knowledge about diabetes self-care practices such as regular medication use, dietary regulation, blood sugar monitoring, follow-up visit and foot care however, moderate knowledge was recorded on physical activity. The findings revealed a high level of Knowledge of Self-care Practices among diabetic patients with relatively importance as the participant indicated that the most practice knowledge of self-care was regular physical activity which is prerequisite for maintaining normal weight and optimal blood glucose followed by necessity to get low level exercise such as walking on a daily basis, regular adherence to the

doses of prescribed medications, Keeping a record/diary of blood sugar levels, weight and blood pressure check to take quick action when necessary, checking foot wears regularly to avoid harming the feet and checking of blood sugar levels regularly to keep tract of diabetes condition

This result was in tandem with the result of [40] who found out that most participants knew the importance of self-management practices especially healthy eating, exercise, taking medications, and healthy coping with stress to control diabetes mellitus and prevent its complications. However, healthy eating, self-monitoring of blood glucose and physical activity recommendations were inadequately practised [41]. Good knowledge about diabetes self-care like regular medication use, glycemic control and diet restriction were reported in many studies among diabetes patients [42][43][44]. According to [45], most diabetes patients were not aware of the principle of dietary management and the food-exchange system as well as the importance of foot care. Most of the participants properly adhered to the anti-diabetic medications but generally lack proper information/knowledge about the importance of self-management practices of foot care and managing diabetes during sick days and how such practices should be implemented. More so, [46] state that type 2 diabetes patients are deficient of sufficient knowledge on the understanding of DM, risk factors of DM, targeted level of blood glucose, hypos, ketoacidosis, food exchange system, and basic rules of foot care

The findings from the study revealed high level of adherence to diabetes self-care practices as majority of the respondents take diabetes drugs and prescribed medications regularly the same time everyday even when sick without altering the prescribed dose the drugs due to illness or forgetfulness. Majority of the respondents adhere mostly to diets as self-care practices was by including more vegetables and fruits in their diet, strictly follow the dietary recommendation given by diabetes specialist, trying not to buy food from vendors, eating at regular intervals.

Also, majority of the respondents adhere to physical activity as self-care practices by doing exercise for up to 30 minutes three times in a week, monitor blood glucose with care and attention, keep a record of blood sugar level when attending the clinic, frequently compare the values of blood sugar record. The result further revealed that majority of the respondents adhere to follow-up as self-care practices by keeping clinic appointment regularly, maintaining a diabetic record which consist of blood sugar level, blood pressure and weight, undergoing general health check-up regularly, consulting diabetes specialist even when there is no problem. Furthermore, the result revealed that diabetes patient adhere to foot care as self-care practices by wearing correct fitting shoes, inspecting foot wears regularly for foreign object, promptly take care of skin abrasions on the feet, observing the feet daily for cuts or injury and by drying the spaces between the toes after feet washing. These Findings are similar to the study carried out by [47] which found that adherence to exercise, dietary diversity and medication were sub-optimal and noted that dietary diversity and exercise were more prevalent among patients with higher socio-economic status.

However, the result is in contrast to what [48] found from their study that discovered low level of self-care behaviour among the research population when assessing the predictors of adherence to self-care behaviours among diabetes patients. [49] reported that diabetic patients did not adhere to recommended diet management, self-monitoring of blood glucose and prescribed medication. This shows a substantial low level of adherence to diabetes self-care practices which is in contrast to findings from the study. However, the report of [47] corroborate the findings from the study which revealed that diabetes patients showed high level of adherence to self-monitoring of blood glucose, adherence to medication, dietary advice, physical exercise and avoidance of bad habit like smoking and alcohol consumption. Self-care practices in diabetes patients are crucial

to keep the illness under control and prevent complications. Effective management of diabetes will be a difficult task without adequate understanding of the existing level of practice related to diabetes self-care [47][50][51][52]

Formatted: Highlight

The findings from the study revealed that the significant factors influencing adherence to self-care practices were the general cost of treating diabetes, the longer the years of been diagnosed of diabetes, good relationship between patient and the healthcare team help to maintain good self-management, believe about capability of taking care of self, level of education and or diabetes knowledge important role of practising self-care, Having good family/ social support greatly influences self-care management. Other factors include, age, complexity and time-consuming nature of some of the self-care practices and religious. In addition to the finding from the study, [53] highlighted numerous factors affecting diabetes self-care practices such as experience and skill, motivation, cultural beliefs and values, confidence, habits, functional and cognitive abilities, support from others, and access to care.

Furthermore, [54] reported that being married, overweight, and obese were significantly related to decrease adherence to follow diabetic meal plan, increased diabetes duration was significantly related to increased adherence to follow diabetic meal plan. Increased number of additional chronic diseases was significantly related to decrease in physical exercise participation. Being married and not receiving insulin treatment were significantly related to decreased adherence to self-blood glucose monitoring. Female participants were significantly related to decreased odds of medication adherence, and increased diabetes duration was significantly related to increased odds of medication adherence.

The finding from the study shows that there was no significant relationship between socio-demographic characteristics of age and level of education and level of adherence to diabetes self-care practices. According to [55] who revealed higher level of adherence to self-care activities in terms of blood sugar monitoring and medication taking behaviour in the current setting, but self-care in other domains such as foot care is critically low. Age, education and Socio-Economic status was shown to affect the self-care practice by the patients. A significant positive correlation was found between self-care practices and socio-demographic variables such as age, income, occupation, education, and Socio-Economic status [55]. Moreover, high level of education and formal health education on diabetes were found to be significantly associated with high level of diabetes management self-efficacy for self-care practices as the patients who had high level of self-efficacy to manage nutrition, physical exercise activity and medication were found more adherent to general diet, exercise activity, and medication taking, respectively. [56] stated that diabetes management self-efficacy was associated with high level of education and receiving health education. Self-efficacy was significantly associated with adherence to self-care activities and glycemic control. However, substantial efforts are still needed to empower the patients with self-efficacy and improving adherence to self-care activities through appropriate interventions.

Baral [57] showed that poor self-care practice was likely to occur among illiterate patients and patients with co-morbidities. In addition to this, [49] reported that diabetic patients who were unemployed were 2.4 times more likely to practice blood glucose monitoring than merchants. Those who attended primary education were less likely to adhere to blood glucose self-monitoring than those educated to a tertiary educational level. Respondents within the age group of 40-49 years were 11 times more likely to adhere to their medication than those aged 60-76 years. [47] found that self-care practices of dietary diversity and exercise were all concentrated

amongst patients with higher socio-economic status and dietary diversity was associated with being female, being retired and higher wealth index. Medication adherence was found to be associated with older age groups. Physical activity was found to be associated with tertiary education, being a student and those within higher wealth index. Self-monitoring of blood glucose was associated with being married. Not smoking was associated with being female and being retired. [50] Participant's age, educational level, and practice of self-care behaviours influenced adherence to anti-diabetes medication. Participants aged 70 years and above were less likely to be non-adherent to medication as compared to those below 50 years. Participants with senior high school education were 3.7 times more likely to be non-adherent to medication than those with tertiary education. Participants with tertiary education had an increase in the level of practice of self-management.

5. CONCLUSION

Diabetes is one of the major health problems worldwide that can be effectively managed by good self-care practices like medication adherence, exercise, monitoring of blood glucose, foot care and dietary regulation. High level of self-care practices and adherence have a positive impact on the achievement of glycemic goal among diabetic patients. There this study investigated the factors influencing the adherence to diabetes self-care practices and the findings from the study revealed high level of knowledge of diabetes mellitus and self-care practices, high level of adherence to self-care practices. Significant factors identified from the study include the general cost of treating diabetes, the longer the years of been diagnosed of diabetes, good relationship between patient and the healthcare team help to maintain good self-management, believe about capability of taking care of self, level of education and or diabetes knowledge important role of practising self-care, Having good family/ social support greatly influences self-care management.

Other factors include, age, complexity and time-consuming nature of some of the self-care practices and religious. There was no significant relationship between socio-demographic factors of age and level of education, level of knowledge of diabetes, self-care practices such as medication, foot care, follow up care and level of adherence with self-care practices. It is therefore concluded that diabetes patients can be motivated to adhere to self-care practices by continuously reinforcing the importance of these activities by health care providers.

REFERENCES

- [1]. World Health Organization. Global report on diabetes: executive summary. World Health Organization; 2016.
- [2]. Edition ID. International Diabetes Federation. 2017. IDF ([http://www. idf.org/sites/default/files/attachments/article_495_en. pdf](http://www.idf.org/sites/default/files/attachments/article_495_en.pdf)). 2017.
- [3]. Ganasegeran K, Hor CP, Jamil MF, Loh HC, Noor JM, Hamid NA, Suppiah PD, Abdul Manaf MR, Ch'ng AS, Looi I. A Systematic Review of the Economic Burden of Type 2 Diabetes in Malaysia. *International journal of environmental research and public health*. 2020 Jan;17(16):5723.
- [4]. Mba CM, Mbanya JC. Challenges and Economic Burden of Diabetes in Africa. *InObesity and Diabetes 2020* (pp. 21-34). Springer, Cham.
- [5]. Singh K, Narayan KV, Eggleston K. Economic impact of diabetes in South Asia: the magnitude of the problem. *Current diabetes reports*. 2019 Jun;19(6):1-2.
- [6]. Pradeepa R, Mohan V. Prevalence of type 2 diabetes and its complications in India and economic costs to the nation. *European journal of clinical nutrition*. 2017 Jul;71(7):816-24.
- [7]. Popa AR, Fratila O, Rus M, Aron RA, Vesa CM, Pantis C, Diaconu CC, Bratu O, Bungau S, Nemeth S. Risk factors for adiposity in the urban population and influence on the prevalence of overweight and obesity. *Experimental and therapeutic medicine*. 2020 Jul 1;20(1):129-33.
- [8]. Shi Z, Atlantis E, Taylor AW, Gill TK, Price K, Appleton S, Wong ML, Licinio J. SSRI antidepressant use potentiates weight gain in the context of unhealthy lifestyles: results from a 4-year Australian follow-up study. *BMJ open*. 2017 Aug 1;7(8):e016224.
- [9]. Midhet FM, Al-Mohaimed AA, Sharaf FK. Lifestyle related risk factors of type 2 diabetes mellitus in Saudi Arabia. *Saudi Med J*. 2010 Jul 1;31(7):768-74.
- [10]. Almadania A, Bashierb AM, Binjabc A, Abdelgaderb E, Al Amiric E, Al Awadib F, Rashidb F, Saadid H, Ksseiry I, AlKaabif J, Hafidhg K. Proceedings of Abstracts 10th Emirates Diabetes and Endocrine Congress.
- [11]. Rajendram A. *A Prospective Open Labelled Non Randomized Phase-II Clinical Trial of "Kadukkai Chooranam for Akkini Selathumam (Diabetic Neuropathy)* (Doctoral dissertation, Government Siddha Medical College, Palayamkottai).

Comment [Y14]: Follow all Vancouver rules in the reference

Comment [Y15]: This is WHO report obtained from website. Reference should follow the rule of writing references from online sources

Comment [Y16]: An online source, assess date should be written

Comment [Y17]: Journal name should be Abbreviated following appropriate rules

- [12]. Sharma A, Mentz RJ, Granger BB, Heitner JF, Cooper LB, Banerjee D, Green CL, Majumdar MD, Eapen Z, Hudson L, Felker GM. Utilizing mobile technologies to improve physical activity and medication adherence in patients with heart failure and diabetes mellitus: Rationale and design of the TARGET-HF-DM Trial. *American heart journal*. 2019 May 1;211:22-33.
- [13]. Seib C, Parkinson J, McDonald N, Fujihira H, Zietek S, Anderson D. Lifestyle interventions for improving health and health behaviours in women with type 2 diabetes: a systematic review of the literature 2011–2017. *Maturitas*. 2018 May 1;111:1-4.
- [14]. Iacoviello CL. *Health Coaching a Method to Improve HbA1c in Adults with Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus* (Doctoral dissertation, Brandman University).
- [15]. EGBAIYAYOMI T. Diabetes Mellitus Type 2 Self-Care and Self-Management In Nigeria: A Scoping Literature Review.
- [16]. Adepoju GA. Development and Evaluation of a Nurse Practitioner-directed Type 2 Diabetes Lifestyle Modification Counseling Program to Improve Diabetes Self-care Patient Engagement in a Community Mental Health Clinic. Wilmington University (Delaware); 2019.
- [17]. Jackson IL, Adibe MO, Okonta MJ, Ukwe CV. Knowledge of self-care among type 2 diabetes patients in two states of Nigeria. *Pharmacy practice*. 2014 Jul;12(3).
- [18]. Basu S, Garg S, Sharma N, Singh MM, Garg S. Adherence to self-care practices, glycemic status and influencing factors in diabetes patients in a tertiary care hospital in Delhi. *World journal of diabetes*. 2018 May 15;9(5):72.
- [19]. Chali SW, Salih MH, Abate AT. Self-care practice and associated factors among Diabetes Mellitus patients on follow up in Benishangul Gumuz Regional State Public Hospitals, Western Ethiopia: a cross-sectional study. *BMC research notes*. 2018 Dec;11(1):1-8.
- [20]. Agofure O, Okandeji-Barry OR, Ogbon P. Pattern of diabetes mellitus complications and co-morbidities in ughelli north local government area, Delta State, Nigeria. *Nigerian Journal of Basic and Clinical Sciences*. 2020 Jul 1;17(2):123.;
- [21]. Asemanya AA, Agan PN, Danasabe FL, Makyur AO. Research Article Spatial Pattern in the Spread of Diabetes Miletus in Makurdi Metropolis.
- [22]. (American Diabetes Association. Standards of medical care in diabetes—2013. *Diabetes care*. 2013 Jan 1;36(Supplement 1):S11-66.;
- [23]. Pera PI. Living with diabetes: quality of care and quality of life. *Patient preference and adherence*. 2011;5:65.
- [24]. Handley J, Pullon S, Gifford H. Living with type 2 diabetes: 'Putting the person in the pilots' seat'. *Australian Journal of Advanced Nursing, The*. 2010 Mar;27(3):12-9.
- [25]. Schinckus L, Dangoisse F, Van den Broucke S, Mikolajczak M. When knowing is not enough: Emotional distress and depression reduce the positive effects of health literacy on diabetes self-management. *Patient education and counseling*. 2018 Feb 1;101(2):324-30.
- [26]. Ayele BH, Mengesha MM, Tesfa T. Predictors of self-care activities of outpatient diabetic residents in Harar and Dire Dawa: A hospital-based cross-sectional study. *SAGE open medicine*. 2019 Jul;7:2050312119865646.

- [27]. Sanal TS, Nair NS, Adhikari P. Factors associated with poor control of type 2 diabetes mellitus: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Journal of diabetology*. 2011;3(1):1-0.
- [28]. Alsomali SI. *An investigation of self-care practice and social support of patients with type 2 diabetes in Saudi Arabia*(Doctoral dissertation, University of Salford).
- [29]. (Ahmed SM, Sami WM, Alkanhal HF, Alenzi AN, Alotaibi WS, Alotaibi KA, Almshafi AA. Study of the prevalence and risk factors of treatment non-compliance among elderly diabetic patients in Majmaah, KSA. *Annals of Medical and Health Sciences Research*. 2020.
- [30]. Schmidt M, Johannesdottir SA, Lemeshow S, Lash TL, Ulrichsen SP, Bøtker HE, Sørensen HT. Obesity in young men, and individual and combined risks of type 2 diabetes, cardiovascular morbidity and death before 55 years of age: a Danish 33-year follow-up study. *BMJ open*. 2013 Jan 1;3(4):e002698.
- [31]. Schmitt A, Gahr A, Hermanns N, Kulzer B, Huber J, Haak T. The Diabetes Self-Management Questionnaire (DSMQ): development and evaluation of an instrument to assess diabetes self-care activities associated with glycaemic control. *Health and quality of life outcomes*. 2013 Dec;11(1):1-4.
- [32]. Herath H, Herath R, Wickremasinghe R. Gestational diabetes mellitus and risk of type 2 diabetes 10 years after the index pregnancy in Sri Lankan women—A community based retrospective cohort study. *PloS one*. 2017 Jun 23;12(6):e0179647.
- [33]. Asmelash D, Abdu N, Tefera S, Baynes HW, Derbew C. Knowledge, attitude, and practice towards glycaemic control and its associated factors among diabetes mellitus patients. *Journal of diabetes research*. 2019 Apr 8;2019.
- [34]. Alloubani A, Saleh A, Abdelhafiz I. Hypertension and diabetes mellitus as a predictive risk factors for stroke. *Diabetes & Metabolic Syndrome: Clinical Research & Reviews*. 2018 Jul 1;12(4):577-84.
- [35]. Shafi S, Tabassum N, Ahmad F. Diabetic nephropathy and herbal medicines. *International Journal of Phytopharmacology*. 2012;3(1):10-7.
- [36]. Onuoha Franklin MF, Egwim Jideoma IF. *Diabetes and Clinical Studies*.
- [37]. Mufunda E, Ernersson Å, Hjelm K. Limited knowledge of diabetes in patients attending an outpatient diabetes clinic at a referral hospital in Zimbabwe: a cross-sectional study. *Pan African Medical Journal*. 2018;29(1):1-3.
- [38]. Basu S, Sussman JB, Berkowitz SA, Hayward RA, Yudkin JS. Development and validation of Risk Equations for Complications Of type 2 Diabetes (RECODE) using individual participant data from randomised trials. *The Lancet Diabetes & Endocrinology*. 2017 Oct 1;5(10):788-98.
- [39]. Mendonça SC, Zanetti ML, Sawada NO, Barreto ID, Andrade JS, Otero LM. Construction and validation of the Self-care Assessment Instrument for patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus1. *Revista latino-americana de enfermagem*. 2017 Jun 5;25.
- [40]. Mikhael EM, Hassali MA, Hussain SA, Shawky N. Self-management knowledge and practice of type 2 diabetes mellitus patients in Baghdad, Iraq: a qualitative study. *Diabetes, metabolic syndrome and obesity: targets and therapy*. 2019;12:1.
- [41]. Mikhael EM, Hussain SA, Shawky N, Hassali MA. Validity and reliability of anti-diabetic medication adherence scale among patients with diabetes in Baghdad, Iraq: a pilot study. *BMJ Open Diabetes Research and Care*. 2019 Jul 1;7(1):e000658.

- [42]. (Al-Sarihin K, Bani-Khaled M, Haddad F, Althwabia I. Diabetes knowledge among patients with diabetes mellitus at King Hussein Hospital. *Jrms*. 2012 Mar;19(1):72-.
- [43]. Rathod HK, Darade SS, Chitnis UB, Bhawalkar JS, Jadhav SL, Banerjee A. Rural prevalence of type 2 diabetes mellitus: A cross sectional study. *Journal of Social Health and Diabetes*. 2014 Dec;2(02):082-6.;
- [44]. Berhe KK, Demissie A, Kahsay AB, Gebru HB. Diabetes self care practices and associated factors among type 2 diabetic patients in Tikur Anbessa specialized hospital, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia-a cross sectional study. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences and Research*. 2012 Nov 1;3(11):4219.
- [45]. Yazew KG, Walle TA, Azagew AW. Prevalence of anti-diabetic medication adherence and determinant factors in Ethiopia: a systemic review and meta-analysis, 2019. *International Journal of Africa Nursing Sciences*. 2019 Jan 1;11:100167.
- [46]. Saleh HS, Abdelsalam WA, Mowafy HE, Abd ElHameid AA. Could metformin manage gestational diabetes mellitus instead of insulin?. *International journal of reproductive medicine*. 2016 Jan 1;2016.
- [47]. Mutyambizi C, Pavlova M, Hongoro C, Groot W. Inequalities and factors associated with adherence to diabetes self-care practices amongst patients at two public hospitals in Gauteng, South Africa. *BMC endocrine disorders*. 2020 Dec;20(1):1-0.
- [48]. Mutyambizi C, Pavlova M, Hongoro C, Booyesen F, Groot W. Incidence, socio-economic inequalities and determinants of catastrophic health expenditure and impoverishment for diabetes care in South Africa: a study at two public hospitals in Tshwane. *International journal for equity in health*. 2019 Dec;18(1):1-5.)
- [49]. Bongor Z, Shiferaw S, Tariku EZ. Adherence to diabetic self-care practices and its associated factors among patients with type 2 diabetes in Addis Ababa, Ethiopia. *Patient preference and adherence*. 2018;12:963.
- [50]. Afaya RA, Bam V, Azongo TB, Afaya A, Kusi-Amponsah A, Ajustiyine JM, Abdul Hamid T. Medication adherence and self-care behaviours among patients with type 2 diabetes mellitus in Ghana. *PloS one*. 2020 Aug 21;15(8):e0237710.;
- [51]. Abate TW, Dessie G, Workneh Y, Gedamu H, Birhanu M, Ayalew E, Tirfie M, Endalamaw A. Non-adherence to self-care and associated factors among diabetes adult population in Ethiopian: A systemic review with meta-analysis. *PloS one*. 2021 Feb 10;16(2):e0245862.
- [52]. Alhaiti AH, Senitan M, Dator WL, Sankarapandian C, Baghdadi NA, Jones LK, Da Costa C, Lenon GB. Adherence of Type 2 Diabetic Patients to Self-Care Activity: Tertiary Care Setting in Saudi Arabia. *Journal of Diabetes Research*. 2020 Oct 6;2020.
- [53]. Riegel B, Jaarsma T, Strömberg A. A middle-range theory of self-care of chronic illness. *Advances in Nursing Science*. 2012 Jul 1;35(3):194-204.
- [54]. Elkady AA. Self-Care Management, Emotional Distress and Self-Efficacy: Relationships with Health-Related Quality of Life among Patients with Type 2 Diabetes. *Psycho-Educational Research Reviews*. 2019 Aug 1:73-84.
- [55]. Chinnappan J, Athira KP, Iqbal F, Jasna V, Ashok P, Varghese RS. Assessment of Self-Care Practices among Type 2 Diabetic Patients in a Secondary Care Teaching Hospital. *Journal of Drug Delivery and Therapeutics*. 2020 May 15;10(3):119-24.
- [56]. Amer MG, Embaby AS, Karam RA, Amer MG. Role of adipose tissue derived stem cells differentiated into insulin producing cells in the treatment of type I diabetes mellitus. *Gene*. 2018 May 15;654:87-94.

- [57]. Shrestha PK, Basukala P, Yadav BK, Baral S, Sayami M. Better Approach to Type 2 Diabetes Mellitus. J Diabetic Complications Med. 2018;3(123):2.

UNDER PEER REVIEW